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DESCRIPTION
SUMMARY

The Oregon State University (OSU) Historic District is located on the main campus of Oregon State University
in Corvallis, Oregon. The university campus lies west of the downtown commercial center of Corvallis on a
slight rise known as “College Hill.” The historic district itself is generally bounded by Monroe and Orchard
Avenues on the north, 30" Street on the west, Washington Way and Jefferson Avenue on the south, and 11"
Street on the east. There are a total of 83 resources within the district; 59 of them are considered contributing
and 24 are considered non-contributing. The district reflects the development of the main university campus
from its beginnings in the late 1880s through the post-World War |l era (1888-1957).

NOTE: Buildings in Section 7 are called by their current names rather than historic names (unless they are the
same) to avoid confusion about the names that have been used for more than one building over time. Buildings
on the appended Site Map are referenced by their building numbers as assigned by OSU. To obtain a
building's building number, see the attached property list.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The OSU Historic District encompasses several buildings and structures and a number of open spaces. There
are expanses of lawns, extensive landscaping, and tree-lined streets and walkways. Most of the district is laid
out on a north-south grid, although the original buildings at the east end of the district conform to original city
plat grids oriented to the Willamette River, which sit at an angle to the north-south grid.

Buildings are mostly two, three, and four stories in height. Foundations are nearly all poured concrete;
however, some are raised so that portions of the basement levels are above ground. The majority of buildings
are brick, but only the oldest examples are brick bearing wall. Others are brick veneer with wood and/or steel
framing. The brick is red and mortar is light gray. Only a few of the oldest buildings and a couple of the newer
co-op houses are wood-framed with wood siding. Some older buildings have stone (granite and/or sandstone)
foundations and walls, and there is at least one building where it is clad with stucco. Some buildings
constructed after World War Il are clad with newer materials, such as metal panels. Interior framing is generally
wood and/or steel. Windows are primarily double-hung wood sash, often with multiple lights, but there are
some examples of industrial metal sash and windows that operate on a pivotal opening. Roofing materials
vary, but include, primarily, asphalt shingle and rolled built-up roofing materials.

Stylistically, the oldest buildings (those constructed before 1908) show styles that were popular during their
time of construction. Those constructed between about 1909 and the mid-1940s show elements of a restrained
classical approach with detailing limited primarily to entrance surrounds and cornices. Occasionally (as in the
Memorial Union or Weatherford Hall) there is a higher degree of exterior ornamentation, but for the most part,
buildings from this time period are fairly uniform in overall architecture. Ornamentation on these buildings is
largely created from stone or terra cotta, although there appears to be an occasional example of concrete as
ornamentation. Buildings constructed after the mid-1940s show a movement toward a more modernist
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approach as the college moved into a new era where the International Style (and its regional vernacular
variations) was in favor.

RESOURCE GROUPINGS

The resources within the district can be divided into groupings. The first group includes most of the original
campus buildings (those constructed between 1888 and 1902) located towards the east end of the district.
These buildings include: Benton Hall, Benton Annex, Education Hall, Apperson Hall, and Gladys Valley
Gymnastics Center.

The second group of resources is located directly west of the first group. Quadrangles were developed from
recommendations from two early campus plans — the first completed by the Olmsted Brothers firm, and the
second by A.D. Taylor. The Library Quad is surrounded by the Pharmacy Building along the east side, Milne
Computer Center and Kidder Hall on the north side, and the Valley Library and Gladys Valley Gymnastics
Center on the south side.

The third group of resources surrounds another quadrangle known as the Memorial Union Quad. These
buildings include Gilkey and Strand Agricultural Halls located along the north and east side, Milam Hall directly
north and the Memorial Union Building on the south side, and Gilmore Hall, the Women'’s Building, and
Fairbanks Hall (and Fairbanks Annex) on the west.

The fourth group of resources is located in the northeast corner of the district and is known as the Engineering
Triangle (a term first coined by A.D. Taylor). There are a number of buildings located within this wedge-shaped
area and predominantly houses disciplines related to Engineering, Physics, and Chemistry. Buildings in this
triangle include Apperson, Owen, Merryfield, Graf, Covell, Batcheller, Dearborn, Rogers, Gilbert (and Gilbert
Addition), Gleeson, Weniger, Bexell, and Shepard Halls.

The agriculture and farm resource group is located at the northwest and southwest corners of the district.
Buildings and structures included in the northwest corner are the greenhouses (east and west), Wiegand,
Withycombe, Cordley, and Nash Halls, the Agriculture Life Science building, Hovland and Gilmore Halls, and
Gilmore Annex. Buildings and structures in the southwest corner include Dryden Hall, the Veterinary Research
Lab, and the Veterinary Dairy Barn. Of the west greenhouses located along the northwest boundary, only
those that are historic are included in the historic district boundary. A non-historic ancillary building is abutted
against the historic west greenhouses, but is not attached nor included in the historic district.

The sixth group of resources includes the dormitories. Dormitories (and former dormitories) are located along a
general east-west axis through the center of the district, south of Jefferson Way. Buildings included in this
group are Sackett, West, Hawley, Buxton, Cauthorn, Poling and Weatherford Halls, and Reed and Heckart
Lodges (all on the west end of the district), and Waldo and Snell Halls. (Note: The Olmsted Brothers
recommended that dormitories not be called “halls,” but rather *houses” to distinguish them from academic
buildings.) Ballard Extension Hall, further north of the Memorial Union Quad, was also used as a women'’s
dorm. There are large open spaces within the district that are used for student intramural activities, which are
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located adjacent to the dormitories groups, such as Cauthorn, Buxton, Poling and Hawley Halls, and Sackett
Hall.

Along the south side of the district are several athletics-related resources. Gill Coliseum is located at the
southwest corner of Washington Way and 26" Street. Dixon Recreation Center and Goss Stadium (and
Coleman Field) are located south of the district's center, and Langton Hall is located just north of Dixon. At the
southeast corner of the district is a combination of utilitarian buildings and structures including McAlexander
Fieldhouse, the Indoor Target Range, Physical Plant Heating Plant, and other campus maintenance operations
buildings.

Several resources not specifically mentioned above on the north side of the district include the Oceanic and
Atmospheric Sciences Administration Building, Plageman Student Health Center, Bates Family Study Center,
and the Kelly Engineering Center. Two small houses front Monroe Street and house the Asian and Pacific
Islander Cultural Center and the Black Cultural Center. Moreland Hall and the Native American Longhouse are
located south of Memorial Union Building. '

The final grouping of resources includes the open spaces and landscaping. There are four contributing and
significant open spaces: the Library Quad, Memorial Union Quad, Lower Campus (all part of the first original
land purchase), and the 30" Street Mall. Lower Campus is located at the east end of campus and is marked by
a tree-lined walkway through a park-like area. The W.A. Jensen Memorial Gates (the entry pylons minus the
gates) are located at the east end, as well. The Library and Memorial Union Quads are marked by a system of
walkways through the quads’ center. The areas nearer buildings have tree-lined walkways, shrubbery, and
some flower beds. The 30" Street Mall has rows of trees planted in the boulevard strip as well as trees along
the sides. Areas around buildings are generously landscaped with a variety of small trees, shrubbery, and
flowers. Parking areas are provided in a variety of small lots within the district, but most campus parking is
available outside the district.

Two other open spaces (fields) are located in the district and are used for athletics and physical activities. The
district also includes substantial sidewalks and pedestrian ways. There are three main streets which cross the
campus in an east/west direction: Campus Way, Jefferson Way, and Washington Way; and four main streets
crossing campus in a north-south direction: 15" Street, 26" Street, 30" Street, and 35" Street.

PHYSICAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE OREGON STATE UNIVERSITY HISTORIC DISTRICT

Generally speaking, the university campus developed from the east to the west and south. The first building on
campus, now called Benton Hall (originally called the Administration Building), was built in 1887-88, facing
town, on the top of a slight rise known as “College Hill" west of the commercial center of Corvallis. The earliest
development of campus buildings occurred near Benton Hall and included Mechanical Hall (built 1889,
destroyed by fire in 1898), Alpha Hall (a dormitory built in 1889, moved off-campus in 1911 and eventually
demolished), Benton Annex (originally called the Station Building, built in 1892, extant), the Horticulture
Building (built in 1893; moved off-campus), the Gladys Valley Gymnastics Center (originally known as the
Armory and Gymnasium, built in 1898, extant), Apperson Hall (originally called Mechanical Hall, built in 1899-
1900, extant), and Education Hall (originally called Agricultural Hall, built in 1902, extant). All of these buildings
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were situated on campus in alignment with the layout of the original town plat, which oriented streets parallel to
the Willamette River rather than on a north-south direction.

The earliest building on campus situated on the north-south axis was Fairbanks Hall (originally a dormitory
called Cauthorn Hall and then Men’s Hall, built in 1892, extant). Others soon followed, including Waldo Hall
(constructed in 1907, extant), the north wing of Strand Agricultural Hall (originally known as the Agronomy
Building, built 1909, extant), and McAlexander Field House (originally called Military Hall, built in 1910, extant).
Merryfield Hall (originally designed as the Industrial Arts Building, built in 1907, extant) was buiilt to fit both the
original grid (parallel to Monroe Avenue) and the north-south grid, which created an L-shaped building.
Shepard Hall (originally known as the YMCA and YWCA building, constructed in 1908, extant), conforms to the
original grid and is parallel to Monroe Avenue. Almost all subsequent development, with the exceptions of
Gilbert and Graf Halls, were built along the realigned north-south axis. Graf Hall is parallel to Monroe Avenue
rather than on the north-south grid; Gilbert Hall was also built with two wings — the north wing parallel to
Monroe Avenue and the south wing along the north-south grid.

Campus development during the remainder of the period of significance can best be broken into three periods:
the Olmsted Brothers period (1909-1925), the first A.D. Taylor period (1926-1944), and the post-war A.D.
Taylor period (1945-1957, although technically Taylor’'s second plan was in place until the campus plan was
revsied in 1964).

Olmsted Campus Plan, 1909-1925

Between 1909 and 1925, campus development followed the Olmsted Brothers’ Plan. Olmsted had provided
President William Jasper Kerr in 1909, a type-written sixty page report which described in detail the future
development of university’s campus. While the Olmsted firm did not provide any plans or drawings to
accompany the report, a plan was drafted a year later in 1910 by landscape architecture professor Arthur Lee
Peck. The drawing showed the creation of quadrangles and grouping of buildings. One important aspect of the
plan was to develop architectural unity for the campus, which was primarily implemented by architect, John V.
Bennes. Buildings constructed during this period include Merryfield Hall (1909), Strand Agricultural Hall
(1909/1911/1913), the Indoor Target Range (1910), Batcheller Hall (1913), Gilkey Hall (1913), Milam Hall
(1914), Gilmore Hall (1914), Kidder Hall (1917), Moreland Hall (1917), Hovland Hall (1919), Ballard Extension
Hall (1921), Bexell Hall (1922), and the Heating Plant (1924).

A.D. Taylor Campus Plan, 1926-1944

A.D. Taylor implemented his first campus plan between 1926 and 1944, representing a continuation of the
Olmsted plan with only minor revisions. Buildings constructed during the 1920s continued at a pace
established in previous years, but the Great Depression and World War Il would later bring new constructed to
a near halt. Buildings constructed during this period include the Women'’s Building (1926), Dryden Hall (1927),
Weatherford Hall (1928), Memorial Union Buillding (1928), the East Greenhouse (1928/1930), Veterinary Dairy
Barn (1930), Plageman Student Health Center (1936/1961), and Gilbert Hall (1939).
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The second Taylor plan was in place from 1945 to 1964. Due to careful implementation of the previous plans,
most of the core of campus was already developed by this time and construction of new buildings occurred
near the perimeters or within spaces that had been previously designated for certain buildings. The concept of
grouping buildings of similar use was still applied, as new buildings for agriculture-related studies were built
near the west end of campus, and dormitories were grouped together near the southwest edges of campus.
Only in the area of architectural unity and harmony was there clear divergence from the Olmsted and first
Taylor plans, which was due in large part to the loss of Bennes as the campus architect, and as the modernist
International Style became popular with architects following World War |l. Buildings constructed during this
period include: the Native American Longhouse (1946), Gill Coliseum (1949), the West Greenhouses (1949-
1957), Reed Lodge (1954), Cauthorn Hall (1957), and Poling Hall (1957).

A discussion about the development of campus would be incomplete without a brief word about the loss of
historic buildings over time. As college campuses grow, the original use of buildings change and cannot be
adapted for alternative uses, or its condition becomes such that they are no longer safe and must be removed.
Such is the case at OSU where, as campus plans were implemented over the years, some buildings were
demolished or relocated. The most notable example of this was the removal and then demolition of several
early agriculture-related buildings (primarily barns) as the campus grew westward, necessitating the relocation
of these functional buildings to the far west end of campus. The following is a partial list of buildings and
structures lost on the OSU campus:

Dairy Barn/Ag Utilities (built 1909, demolished 1989)

Alpha Hall (moved 1911 and demolished in 1922)

Weatherford Dining Hall (built 1957)

Horticulture Building (built 1893, eventually moved off-campus)
Incubator House (built 1908, eventually moved off-campus)
Original greenhouses (built 1910; designed by Bennes)
Foundry (built 1911, designed by Bennes)

Stock Judging Pavilion (built 1912, designed by Bennes)

Beef Barn (built 1914, designed by Bennes)

Hog Barn & Feeding House (built 1916, designed by Bennes)
Veterinary Clinic (built 1918, designed by Bennes)

Horse Barn (built 1924, designed by Bennes)

Sheep Barn (built 1930, designed by Bennes)

Military barns and artillery sheds (built 1920, designed by Bennes)
Band stand (built c.1910s; demolished 1960s)

Bell Field Stadium (built 1920)

Auto Mechanics (built 1918; demolished late 1920s)

Even with the relocation and demolition of several buildings on campus, the historic district still remains an
excellent example of university campus development in Oregon from the late nineteenth through the mid-
twentieth century.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
SUMMARY

The Oregon State University (OSU) Historic District, located on the main university campus in Corvallis,
Oregon, is a well-preserved example of campus development in Oregon between 1888 and 1957. It is
distinguished from other state-owned campuses in Oregon as the state’s only land-grant institution and for its
campus planning efforts and implementation. The district is being nominated to the National Register of
Historic Places under Criterion A for its important association with education and community planning, and
under Criterion C for its association with Oregon architect, John V. Bennes, who designed nearly 50 projects
for the university between 1907 and 1942. Oregon State University is also significant for having been
designated Oregon’s only land-grant college in 1868, a designation it continues to carry today, and for its
campus planning by the Olmsted Brothers (1909-1925) and A.D. Taylor (1925-1964). The period of
significance begins 1888 with the date of completion of the oldest building extant on campus and ends in 1957
which corresponds with the National Register’s fifty year mark. The level of significance is statewide.

BRIEF HISTORY OF EARLY CORVALLIS AND THE FOUNDING OF CORVALLIS COLLEGE

Oregon State University, as it is known today, is located on land once inhabited by the Kalapuya Indians. In
1845, Joseph C. Avery claimed 568 acres at the confluence of the Willamette and Mary’s Rivers. Benton
County was established in 1847 and Oregon became a territory of the United States in 1848. Following the
passage of the 1850 Donation Land Claim Act, settlement in the area began to occur at a quickened pace. In
February 1851, Avery platted the town of Marysville on his land along the Willamette River. In August 1851,
William Dixon, another early settler, platted Dixon’s Addition to the Town of Marysville. The town was then
designated the county seat in 1851 and renamed Corvallis in 1853."

Corvallis grew quickly and included the development of various industries and agriculture, commercial
enterprises, fraternal and social organizations, residential neighborhoods, churches, and schools. In 1851, the
Territorial Legislature passed an act to provide for public buildings in the Territory of Oregon, and Marysville
was selected as the location for a university. In 1853, a second act was passed appointing a Board of
Commissioners to select the site for the university and to oversee its construction. When Corvallis was
designated as the Territorial Capitol in 1855, the site of the proposed university was relocated to Jacksonville
in southern Oregon.?

Corvallis was incorporated in January 1857, and in 1858, a group of Corvallis residents, acting as trustees,
established Corvallis College, and constructed a two-story building in 1859 on 5" Street between Madison and
Monroe Avenues, the same year Oregon was granted statehood. Corvallis College was originally chartered as
a non-sectarian school, but its status changed when a lien was placed on the building by a carpenter who had
not been paid for his work. The building was later purchased at a sheriff's sale in 1860 by Rev. Orceneth
Fisher, acting as an agent of the Methodist Episcopal Church South, and Corvallis College came under the

; Mary Kathryn Gallagher, Historic Context Statement: City of Corvallis, Oregon (City of Corvallis Planning document, 1993), 21.
Ibid, 43-43.
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jurisdiction of the church. The college had only elementary and preparatory departments until 1865 with the
addition of college-level studies.’

LAND-GRANT COLLEGE LEGISLATION AND THE DESIGNATION OF OREGON’S LAND-GRANT
COLLEGE

Prior to the early nineteenth century, both private and public American colleges and universities served
primarily the leisure classes, government leaders, and members of the professions, offering chiefly classical
and professional curricula.” During the half-century prior to the Civil War, however, the importance of science
was gaining recognition, the industrial economy was emerging, new transportation systems were being built,
and settlement was spreading westward. This resulted in an increasing number of farms, a growing
competitiveness for farm markets, and the introduction of new farming practices and agricultural science.
Although there were some instances where colleges and universities offered alternatives to the classics,
however, scientific, agricultural, and industrial education was not widely available.® A movement to provide a
“greater democracy in education” was launched and called for the creation of a “practical” education for
working-class families which emphasized classes in agriculture and mechanical arts.®

This cause was championed by Justin Morrill, a Congressional representative from Vermont who took office in
December 1855. In February 1856, he offered a resolution asking the Committee on Agriculture to establish
“one or more national agricultural schools” where one student from each Congressional district and two from
each state at large would “receive a scientific and practical education at the public expense.”” The committee,
however, refused to receive the resolution and no action toward establishing these colleges was taken.

In December 1857, Morrill introduced the Bill Granting Lands for Agricultural Colleges. The sale of public lands,
“land that should be considered a common fund for the use and benefit of all,” would finance these colleges.
Morrill moved to refer the bill to the Committee on Agriculture, of which he was now a member. The bill was
instead sent to the Committee on Public Lands where the majority recommended rejection. After some political
maneuvering, the House finally passed the bill 105 votes to 100 in April 1858.% The Senate, however, delayed
a vote on the bill until the following session, but ultimately approving it in February 1859, with minor
amendments. The amendments were approved by the House and the bill was sent to President James
Buchanan. He vetoed the bill.°

By the time Abraham Lincoin was elected President in 1860, the “College Land Bill” had gained support
throughout much of America. In December 1861, Morrill introduced a revised version of his earlier bill under

% Ibid, 43.
* National Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges (NASULGC), The Land-Grant Tradition (Washington, DC:
NASULGC Public Affairs, 1995), 5.
5 Roger L. Williams, The Origins of Federal Support for Higher Education (University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University
Press, 1991), 11, 22-34.
f Coy F. Cross, ll, Justin Smith Morrill, Father of the Land-Grant College (East Lansing, MI: Michigan State University Press, 1999), 78.
Ibid, 79.
Z Ibid, 79-82.
Ibid, 83.
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which colleges’ curricula would include agriculture, mechanical arts, and military tactics (a provision inspired by
the Civil War). Land allotment was increased from twenty to thirty thousand acres for each representative and
senator. The bill was sent to the Committee on Public Lands and after a delay of almost six months, the
committee again recommended rejection. During this delay, however, a version of the bill was introduced in the
Senate by a friend of Morrill’'s, Senator Ben Wade. The Senate version offered an amendment “limiting the land
claimed in any one state to one million acres.” The bill passed the Senate in June 1862, by a vote of 32to 7.
When the Senate bill arrived at the House for approval, attempts to delay or amend it failed, and it was passed
with a vote of 90 to 25. The “College Land Bill" was signed into law as the Land-Grant College Act (also known
as the Morrill Act of 1862) by President Lincoln on July 2, 1862."°

Under the act, each state received 30,000 acres of public land (or its equivalent in scrip in those states that
had no public lands) for each of its representatives and senators in Congress (up to a total of one million
acres). The lands or scrip was to be sold and the proceeds were to be used to create a “perpetual fund” by
investing the monies in “safe stocks yielding not less than five per centum” and the fund’s capital would
“remain forever undiminished.” The income from the investments then would pay for “the endowment, support,
and maintenance of at least one college” in each state."!

Although some states quickly accepted the conditions of the Land-Grant College Act and moved to create
colleges, progress was slow initially. This was due in part to the Civil War, rather than education, but also
partially due to the flood of federal lands that simultaneously came on the market when the Homestead Act had
been signed by Lincoln on the same day as the Land-Grant College Act, giving settlers 160 acres of public
land. Veterans of the Mexican War and various skirmishes against Native Americans also had received
warrants for over 61 million acres. Additionally, a bill that gave large tracts of land to Union Pacific and Central
Pacific Railroads for the transcontinental railroad was signed by Lincoln the day before the Homestead and the
Land-Grant College Act."?

The provisions of the Land-Grant College Act were “irrevocably adopted” by the Oregon Legislature in October
in 1862, although no action was taken toward actual construction of such a college at that time. In 1868, the
Oregon Legislature, faced with a choice of having to establish an agricultural college or lose the funds made
available under the act, designated Corvallis College as the Agricultural College for the State of Oregon.
Although the college was still owned and operated by the Methodist Episcopal Church, the state made
arrangements to use the building and teachers, an understanding that lasted two decades."®

Although October 27, 1868 is considered Oregon State University’s charter day, the permanent placement of
Oregon’s agricultural college in Corvallis did not occur until 1870 when the Oregon Legislature passed an act
to do so. In 1871, nearly thirty-five acres of farmland west of Corvallis was purchased by citizens of Benton
County for the establishment of the experimental farm as required by the provisions of the Morrill Act." This
land became the site of today’s OSU campus and was known as “College Hill."

% pid, 83-84.

" Ibid, 84.

2 |bid, 85.

" Gallagher, 43.
" Ibid.
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Oregon State University went through several name changes during its early existence. In 1872, OSU was
known as Corvallis State Agricultural College; in 1879 it became Corvallis College and State Agricultural
College; in 1881 it was called Corvallis Agricultural College; by 1883 it had become known as Oregon State
Agricultural College; and in 1886, it was called the State Agricultural College of Oregon.™

On March 2, 1887, President Grover Cleveland signed into law the Hatch Act of 1887, which authorized federal
funds to states that established agricultural research and experiment stations in connection with the land-grant
colleges. The act served to legitimize agricultural science as “an intrinsic part of the entire agricultural
enterprise and helped to establish scientists as the source of knowledge and the engine of agricultural
productivity.”"®

On August 8, 1887, the cornerstone was laid for a three-story brick building on “College Hill" in Corvallis. The
construction, which cost $25,000, was financed by the citizens of Corvallis and Benton County and the building
was given as a gift to the state. The building, known as the Administration Building (extant, now called Benton
Hall), was completed in 1888. By 1889, the State Agricultural College of Oregon had successfully relocated
from the 5" Street building to the new campus on College Hill."”

In 1890, the Second Morrill Act was passed by Congress, providing further funding for states’ land-grant
colleges. In short, the act provided annual appropriations for “instruction in agriculture, the mechanic arts, the
English language, and the various branches of mathematical, physical, natural and economic science . . . and
to the facilities for such instruction.”*® In addition, the Second Morrill Act provided for the creation or
designation of land-grant colleges for African Americans and introduced measures of federal control and
institutional accountability. This new federal funding provided not only for states’ ability to expand their
curriculums and construct new buildings, but also to hire new faculty, and was generally met with improved
funding by state legislatures. The act has been credited with providing the stimulus that secured land-grant
colleges’ permanence in the United States.

Growth of the Oregon State University Campus

During the 1890s, the campus of the new State Agricultural College of Oregon grew. In 1889, more buildings
were constructed, including Alpha Hall (moved in 1911, razed 1922), a women'’s dormitory constructed west of
the new Administration Building, and Mechanical Hall (destroyed by fire in 1898), built on the north side of
campus. The Men’s Hall (first called Cauthorn, now known as Fairbanks) was built in 1891-92 at what was then
the west end of campus. The building that housed the agricultural experiment station, known as the Station
Building (now called Benton Annex/Women's Center) was constructed in 1892, just west of the Administration
Building. The original Horticulture Building (now located off-campus) was constructed in 1893. In 1898, the
Armory and Gymnasium (now Gladys Valley Gymnastics Center) was built south of the Station Building, and

> OSU Archives website (http:/osulibrary.oregonstate.edu/archives/chronology ), accessed 3/15/2006.
'® Williams, 115.
7 OSU Archives website (http://osulibrary.oregonstate.edu/archives/chronology ), accessed 3/15/2006.
18 \agiigs

Williams, 126.
" Ibid.
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the parade grounds for military drills were located on the campus meadow (Lower Campus), east of the
original buildings. The original Heating Plant was built in 1899, the same year that construction began on the
new Mechanical Hall (now called Apperson Hall), which was completed in 1900.

The turn of the century brought additional construction to campus, which had grown to about 40 acres, with an
additional 140 acres used for farming. Agricultural Hall (now called Education Hall) was built south of the
Administration Building in 1902, and a dairy barn (demolished in 1989) was built between 1905 and 1907 near
what was then the northeast corner of campus. In 1906-07, a ne<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>